### Effects of lifestyle interventions on inflammatory markers in the metabolic syndrome

#### Kristen M. Beavers<sup>1</sup>, Barbara J. Nicklas<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>J. Paul Sticht Center on Aging, Department of Internal Medicine, Section on Gerontology and Geriatric Medicine, Wake Forest, University School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, North Carolina, 27157

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
  - 2.1. Metabolic syndrome: definition, prevalence, and risk
  - 2.2. Potential etiologic factors of metabolic syndrome
  - 2.3. Inflammation and metabolic syndrome
- 3. Lifestyle interventions and metabolic syndrome
  - 3.1. Literature search and trial descriptions
- 4. Diet-related anti-inflammatory properties
- 5. Perspective
- 6. Acknowledgments
- 7. References

#### 1. ABSTRACT

Metabolic syndrome (MetS) is a clustering of cardiovascular risk factors which places individuals at increased risk for cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. In addition to obesity and insulin resistance, inflammation is emerging as a potential etiologic factor of the syndrome. One hypothesis suggests that obesity contributes to insulin resistance through increased production of adipose-derived inflammatory cytokines. Currently, lifestyle change is the first line of treatment for MetS. Only recently, however, have studies begun exploring the effect of lifestyle interventions on the mediation of inflammation in individuals with MetS. This review summarizes the strongest evidence (i.e. randomized controlled trial data) for a role of lifestyle interventions (diet and/or exercise) on the improvement of inflammatory biomarkers in people with MetS. Of six studies assessed, lifestyle interventions were consistently successful at improving the inflammatory and metabolic profiles. Interestingly, improvements in the inflammatory profile were found to be largely independent of obesity. Data currently suggest that alterations in dietary composition may be the most effective lifestyle change, although there is a need for more research in this area.

#### 2. INTRODUCTION

## 2.1. Metabolic syndrome: definition, prevalence, and risk

First recognized in 1988 (1), the metabolic syndrome (MetS) is a clustering of cardiovascular risk factors, including abdominal obesity, dyslipidemia, hypertension, and impaired glucose tolerance. Although varying definitions of the condition have been proposed by several organizations (2-6), distinguishing criteria are comparable, and in most cases diagnosis is contingent on the presence of at least three components. (The notable exception being the definition put forth by The American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists (AACE) in 2003, where diagnosis is ultimately left to clinical judgment (5).) Table 1 provides a chronological summary of the existing definitions of MetS, proposed by the European Group for the Study of Insulin Resistance (EGIR), World Health Organization (WHO), National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP), AACE, and International Diabetes Federation (IDF). Of note, both the EGIR and the WHO definitions require the presence of insulin resistance for diagnosis of MetS (2, 3), while the IDF includes ethnicspecific abdominal obesity in their operational definition

Table 1. Proposed working definitions of MetS

Risk	EGIR (1999)(2)	WHO (1999)(3)	NCEP ATP III	AACE (2003)(5) <sup>1</sup>	IDF (2006)(6)	
Factor			(2002)(4)			
Obesity	Waist Circumference: - Men greater than or equal to 94 cm -Women greater than or equal to 80 cm	WHR: -Men greater than 0.90 -Women greater than 0.85 and/or BMI greater than 30 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	Waist circumference: -Men greater than 102 cm -Women greater than 88 cm	BMI greater than or equal to 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	<sup>2</sup> Central obesity (defined using waist circumference with ethnicity specific values) and/or BMI greater than 30 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	
Blood Pressure <sup>3</sup>	BP greater than or equal to 140/90 mmHg	BP greater than or equal to 140/90 mmHg	BP greater than or equal to 130/85 mmHg	BP greater than or equal to 130/85 mm Hg	BP greater than 130/85 mmHg	
Cholesterol <sup>3</sup>	TG greater than or equal to 2.0 mmol/L	TG greater than or equal to 150 mg/dL	TG greater than or equal to 150 mg/dL	TG greater than or equal to 150 mg/dL	TG greater than 150 mg/dL	
	HDL-C less than 1.0 mmol/L	HDL: -Men less than 35 mg/dL -Women less than 39 mg/dL	HDL: -Men less than 40 mg/dL -Women less than 50 mg/dL	HDL: -Men less than 40 mg/dL -Women less than 50 mg/dL	HDL: -Men less than 40 mg/dL -Women less than 50 mg/dL	
Blood Sugar <sup>3</sup>	FPG greater than or equal to 6.1 mmol/L <sup>2</sup> Insulin resistance defined as the top 25% of the fasting insulin values among non-diabetic individuals	<sup>2</sup> Presence of Type 2 diabetes, impaired glucose tolerance, impaired fasting glucose or insulin resistance	FPG greater than or equal to 110 mg/dL	FPG = 110-126 mg/dL, or 2-hour post glucose challenge greater than140 mgldL	FPG greater than 100 mg/dL, or previously diagnosed Type 2 diabetes	
Other		Microalbuminuria: urinary albumin excretion ratio greater than or equal to 20 mg/min or albumin : creatinine ratio greater than or equal to 30 mg/g		Family history or high risk of Type 2 diabetes, hypertension, or CVD, PCOS, old age, sedentary lifestyle		

<sup>1</sup>Diagnosis depends on clinical judgment based on risk factors. <sup>2</sup>Indicates that risk factor must be present for diagnosis to be made <sup>3</sup>Use of medication to control this condition is considered diagnostic. Abbreviations: BMI = body mass index, BP = blood pressure, cm = centimeter, CVD = cardiovascular disease, dL = deciliter, EGIR = European Group for the Study of Insulin Resistance, FPG= fasting plasma glucose, g = gram, HDL-C = high density lipoprotein cholesterol, IDF = International Diabetes Federation, kg = kilogram, L = liter, m = meter, min = minute, mmHg = millimeters mercury, mmol = millimole, NCEP ATP III = National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III, PCOS = poly cystic ovary syndrome, TG = triglyceride, WHO = World Health Organization, WHR = waist to hip ratio

(6). Although subtle, varying emphases of select clinical criteria reveal fundamental differences in organizational views of the etiologic nature of the disorder. Presently, the NCEP characterization is the most widely used as a working definition for research (7), although to strengthen cross-study comparisons, there is a clear need for a univocal definition of the disorder.

MetS (as categorized by NCEP criteria) is thought to affect as many as one in five United States adults. Although prevalence of the condition increases with age (8), data reveal vounger generations are also at risk (9). While the clinical utility of this condition has been questioned (10), several recent studies confirm higher cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk in individuals with three or more MetS components compared to individuals manifesting just one or two (11-16). Further, individuals exhibiting MetS have an increased risk of cardiovascular (hazard ratio (HR): 95% confidence interval (CI)): 2.26: 1.61-3.17)) and all-cause (1.44: 1.17-1.84)) mortality compared to healthy counterparts (14). People with MetS also have a five-fold greater risk of developing diabetes mellitus (DM), if not already present, than those without (17). Finally, recent epidemiologic evidence also suggests that MetS may be a risk factor for the onset of aging-related disability (18, 19), although future research in this area is needed before definitive conclusions can be drawn. Given the prevalence of MetS and its contribution to increased morbidity and mortality, an understanding of its etiology and through it a rational approach to its therapy is of considerable public health concern.

### 2.2. Potential etiologic factors of metabolic syndrome

While characterization of the underlying cause(s) of MetS is still the subject of debate, obesity and disorders of adipose tissue, and insulin resistance have emerged as potential etiologic factors. In support of this, several observational studies identify obesity (20-22) as an independent predictor of MetS. Furthermore, adiposity plays a key role in the pathophysiology of all MetS components (23-25), and is associated with insulin resistance (26). Despite this association, it should be noted that insulin resistance can occur at any given level of body fat (27). And, insulin resistance, independent of obesity, can influence several MetS components (28-30), leading some investigators to place a greater priority on insulin resistance than obesity in the pathogenesis of the syndrome (2, 3, 31).

One hypothesis which attempts to unify these factors suggests that obesity contributes to insulin resistance through an increased production of adiposederived inflammatory cytokines (or "adipokines"). Cytokines, most commonly interleukins (ILs), are regulatory proteins typically released by cells of the immune system that act as intercellular mediators in the

generation of an immune response. However, several cytokines are also secreted from adipose tissue (32), especially visceral fat depots (33), and excessive fat accumulation can induce a pro-inflammatory state. While acute inflammation is a necessary response of the immune system, prolonged inflammation, even a low-grade state, has detrimental health effects (34-36). Weight loss reduces inflammation, and several studies consistently show that the magnitude of decrease in inflammatory markers is linearly related to the amount of fat lost (37-39). Interestingly, recent data suggest that regional fat distribution, independent of obesity, is associated with MetS. In a 2005 cross-sectional study, Health Aging, and Body Composition (Health ABC) investigators found visceral fat accumulation to be independently associated with MetS in older men and women, even in those of normal weight (odds ratio (OR), 95% CI men: 2.1, 1.6-2.9; women: 2.3, 1.6-3.5) (25). Surprisingly, these associations were much less robust or even nonexistent for subcutaneous adipose tissue, implying that properties of visceral adipose tissue itself, such as the secretion of adipokines, are associated with, and may even cause (40), MetS.

Perhaps the most compelling evidence substantiating the hypothesis of a direct role for inflammation in obesity-linked insulin resistance comes from a 1993 mouse model by Hotamisligil et al. (41). In this seminal study, authors showed that the inflammatory cytokine tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) is elevated in plasma and in adipose tissue of obese rodents, and that the neutralization of TNF-alpha (by soluble TNFalpha receptor) leads to a significant decrease in insulin resistance in these animals. These data clearly point to a direct role of TNF-alpha in obesity-linked insulin resistance; a finding which has subsequently been replicated in humans (42). Since then, several studies have confirmed increased plasma concentrations inflammatory cytokines in obesity (43-45), as well as insulin resistance (46, 47). Thus, several lines of evidence suggest that the two most prominent components of MetS, adiposity and insulin resistance, are associated with Therefore, inflammation may be an inflammation. underlying cause of MetS.

#### 2.3. Inflammation and metabolic syndrome

The first study to specifically observe an association between inflammatory biomarkers (i.e. Creactive protein (CRP), fibrinogen, white cell count) and various components of MetS was conducted by Festa in 2000 (48). Utilizing data from the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study (IRAS), authors found higher CRP levels in those with a greater number of metabolic disorders.(48) Since then, several studies have corroborated this finding (49-51), even in individuals without overt CVD or DM (52, 53). In addition to CRP, elevations in IL-6, IL-18, and TNF-alpha are correlated with the presence of MetS (54, 55); while adiponectin, an anti-inflammatory protein, has a negative association with MetS (54). Interestingly, these associations can be found at all levels of adiposity (56, 57). Data also show concurrent changes in systemic inflammation and the progression of MetS. Similar to the findings by Festa *et al.* (48) in 2003, Ridker reported that over an eight year period, median CRP levels increased in response to the severity of MetS (number of markers) in 14,719 participants of the Women's Health Study (52). Results from this study further indicate that MetS and inflammatory processes are related.

Evidence also exists in support of a causal role of inflammation in the development and progression of MetS. In a six-year prospective study of 1244 Mexican adults initially free of diabetes, women in the highest tertile of CRP (greater than 2.17 mg/L) at baseline had an increased relative risk of developing MetS by 4.0 (95% CI: 2.0-7.9) compared with women in the lowest tertile (less than 1.24 mg/L) (58). This result was not observed for men (58); however, in a prospective study of similar design, significant predictive ability of CRP for MetS was seen in both genders (59). In this Italian cohort of healthy men and women (n=1658), higher baseline CRP values was found to confer a significant increased risk of developing MetS, independent of weight gain. Specifically, baseline CRP values greater than 2.1 mg/L had an 86% (95% CI: 81-90) sensitivity and 75% (69-81) specificity in predicting future MetS (59). In addition to CRP, hyperfibrinogenemia (representative of an inflammatory state) predicts MetS in men (60). Although inflammatory biomarkers are not yet considered to be diagnostic criteria of MetS, the recent IDF consensus recommends that additional research be conducted to elucidate the role of elevated circulating inflammatory and/or thrombotic markers or reduced levels of anti-inflammatory molecules in the development of MetS (6).

In addition to data implicating inflammation in the incidence and prevalence of MetS, recent evidence is suggestive of an additive effect of MetS and inflammation, specifically CRP, on CVD risk prediction. Two recent studies found that the age-adjusted relative risk of incident CVD events was the same in subjects with high CRP without MetS and in subjects with low CRP with MetS; however, in subjects with both elevated CRP levels and the presence of the MetS, the relative risk of CVD events was double that of the other subgroups (61, 62). Thus, reduction of inflammation in subjects with MetS may also improve risk for CVD. Therefore, the inflammatory cascade could be a critical therapeutic target for people with MetS.

# 3. LIFESTYLE INTERVENTIONS AND METABOLIC SYNDROME

The primary management of MetS involves healthy lifestyle promotion through caloric restriction, increased physical activity, and improved dietary composition (63). Such intervention strategies have been shown to reduce the prevalence of MetS by 40-80% (64-67), and may also favorably affect inflammatory profiles. Weight loss is associated with reductions in inflammatory biomarkers (38). Further, data from randomized controlled trials (RCTs) indicates that aerobic exercise can also reduce inflammation, especially when conducted in "inflamed" individuals, or if the exercise results in weight loss (68).

**Table 2.** Descriptive characteristics of randomized controlled trials examining the effect of exercise and weight loss on markers

of systemic inflammation in subjects with MetS

Reference	Duration (mo)	N(M:F)/age (years)	Intervention/Description	Improvement in MetS Components?	Inflammatory Biomarkers	Change in Biomarkers?
65	24	90(49:41)/44.3+/-6.4	Mediterranean Diet	Yes	CRP, IL-6, IL-7, IL-18	in all biomarkers for diet group
		90(50:40)/43.5+/-5.9	Control			
78	3	9(9:0)/45(41-59)	Pravastatin + 45-60 min aerobic + resistance activity 3 times/wk	Yes	MCP-1, IL-8	↓ IL-8 and ↓ MCP-1 in exercise groups
		9(9:0)/42(40-52)	45-60 min aerobic + resistance activity 3 times/wk			
		8(8:0)/55(47-62)	Pravastatin			
		6(6:0)/46(44-45)	Control			
77	3	9(9:0)/45(41-59)	Pravastatin + 45-60 min aerobic + resistance activity 3 times/wk	Yes	E-selectin, ICAM-1, VCAM-1, TNF-alpha, Adiponectin	↓ TNF-alpha in exercise groups
		9(9:0)/42(40-52)	45-60 min aerobic + resistance activity 3 times/wk			
		8(8:0)/55(47-62)	Pravastatin			
		6(6:0)/46(44-45)	Control			
75	12	169(70:99)/55.7+/-5.7	Lifestyle Changes (Diet + Exercise)	Yes	CRP, UA	↓ in CRP and UA in lifestyle intervention group
		166(70:96)/55.7+/-5.6	Control			
76	12	32(0:32)/68.7+/-3.4	20-60 min of endurance + resistance exercise 4 times/wk	Yes	CRP	↓ in CRP in exercise group
		33(0:33)/69.5+/-4.3	Control			
79	12	26(14:12)/ M: 49.0+/-8.8 <sup>1</sup> F:57.6+/-6.0	LF diet + 45-60 min aerobic activity @ 60-85% HR <sub>max</sub> 3 times/wk	Yes <sup>2</sup>	CRP	↓ in CRP for women in diet groups

<sup>1</sup>Age provided for entire cohort (n=274); results specific to those with MetS. <sup>2</sup>Only changes in cholesterol were reported, with a decrease in LDL in the treatment groups compared to control. Abbreviations: ↓ = decrease, CRP = C-reactive protein, ICAM-1 = intercellular adhesion molecule 1, IL = interleukin, LF = low fat, MCP-1 = monocyte chemotactic protein-1, Mets = metabolic syndrome, min = minute, mo = month, TNF-alpha = tumor necrosis factor-alpha, UA = uric acid, VCAM-1 = vascular cellular adhesion molecule-1, wk = week

Finally, certain foods are known to exhibit antiinflammatory properties (69-71), and this too may influence the circulating levels of inflammatory biomarkers, independent of weight loss. Given the importance of lifestyle changes in the mediation of MetS, and the emerging role of inflammation in the characterization of the disorder, this section will summarize the strongest evidence (i.e. RCT data) for a role of lifestyle interventions on the improvement of inflammatory biomarkers in people with MetS. We acknowledge that additional lifestyle based interventions, such as smoking cessation and stress management, may be beneficial for the improvement of inflammatory parameters and MetS (72-74), but for the purpose of this review, lifestyle based interventions will be limited to diet and/or exercise trials.

#### 3.1. Literature search and trial descriptions

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using the PUBMED database (National Library of Medicine, Bethesda, MD) inclusively through March 31, 2010 on RCTs using the keywords: metabolic syndrome, lifestyle intervention, inflammation, cytokine, exercise, nutrition, and diet. Relevant study details are presented in Table 2. Briefly, a total of six studies were identified which specifically examined the effects of diet and/or exercise interventions to improve inflammatory markers in subjects with MetS: three were exercise-only, two diet and exercise, and one diet-only. Study sample sizes ranged

from 32 to 335 individuals, and intervention duration ranged from 3 to 24 months. CRP was the most commonly measured inflammatory biomarker and in most cases the lifestyle intervention improved both inflammatory and metabolic profiles.

One of the earliest trials examined the effects of dietary composition on inflammatory biomarkers in men and women with MetS (65). Specifically, 180 Italians with MetS were randomized to follow either a Mediterraneanstyle (n=90) or control diet (n=90) for two years. Although both diets were similar in macronutrient breakdown (carbohydrate=50-60%, protein=15-20%, less than 30% fat), the Mediterranean-style diet emphasized the consumption of fruits, vegetables, nuts, olive oil and whole grains, whereas the control diet had no specific "food" emphasis. Endothelial dysfunction and markers of vascular inflammation (CRP, IL-6, IL-18) were primary study Upon study completion, patients on the endpoints. Mediterranean diet lost more weight than the control group and had lower plasma levels of CRP and IL-6, as well as less insulin resistance. Improvements in the inflammatory profile persisted even after controlling for weight loss. Additionally, participants on the Mediterranean diet reduced total cholesterol and triglycerides and increased their high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) over the course of the study significantly more than participants on the control diet. Remarkably, after two years only 40 out

of 90 patients on the Mediterranean diet still had features of MetS, compared with 78 of 90 on the control diet.(65) Results from this study suggest that dietary composition, beyond weight loss, may be a salient intervention component. Bo et al. (75) evaluated the effects of individualized caloric restriction and moderate-intensity exercise on metabolic variables and CRP and uric acid (UA) values in the experimental and control arms of a twelve-month randomized lifestyle intervention trial performed in patients with multiple metabolic abnormalities. This lifestyle-based intervention induced a modest reduction in body mass index (BMI) and waist circumference and substantial improvement in the prevalence of MetS and its components (31% absolute risk reduction). Moreover, the combined lifestyle intervention and resulted in significant reductions in CRP and UA (23% and 6.5%, respectively), when compared to control (75). Interestingly, similar to the findings of Esposito and colleagues (65), the significant improvement in CRP was noted even after adjustment for weight and waist modifications.

Pertaining to the mediating effects of exercise alone, one year of endurance and resistance training (20-60 minutes/day, four days/week) improved a variety of MetS criteria in older women with MetS, in addition to a 29% reduction in CRP levels (-0.68+/-1.80 mg/L) (76). Additionally, two studies conducted by Troseid et al. examined the effects of physical exercise and the HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor, pravastatin, on peripheral markers of inflammation (monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1), IL-8, TNF-alpha, adiponectin, and cellular adhesion molecules (CAMs)) in patients with MetS (77, 78). No significant effects of the intervention were observed on CAMs or adiponectin; however, a significant reduction in TNF-alpha, MCP-1 and IL-8 was seen in the exercise groups (i.e. exercise alone, exercise plus pravastatin) compared to the non-exercise groups (pravastatin and control). Authors also showed that reductions in MCP-1 and IL-8 were correlated with reductions in visceral fat (r=0.41 and 0.28 for MCP-1 and IL-8, respectively); however, visceral fat did not decrease significantly in the exercise groups raising concern over whether or not these exercise-induced improvements can be considered independent of fat loss (78). Changes in TNF-alpha, however, were correlated with BMI (r=0.36) and waist circumference (r=0.42), and all were significantly improved with exercise (77).

Based on the results from the aforementioned studies, it appears that both diet and physical activity interventions are successful at improving both metabolic and inflammatory parameters in subjects with MetS. However, whether and to what degree one lifestyle factor is more important in promoting benefit, especially independent of weight loss, is largely unknown. The only RCT attempting to address this question was conducted by Camhi *et al.* in 2010 (79). This systematic comparison of the independent and combined effects of diet and exercise on CRP involved 47 men and 39 postmenopausal women with MetS, randomized into a one-year weight stable trial with four treatment groups: control, low-fat (LF) diet,

exercise or LF diet plus exercise. Women randomized to LF diet or LF diet plus exercise had greater reductions in CRP compared with both the control and exercise group (p=0.001). However, similar results were not observed for men. These results agree with the previously described RCTs in this review, suggesting that improvement in inflammatory markers can be seen independent of weight loss. Further, these results show that dietary composition, specifically a diet low in fat, is the most effective lifestyle factor in reducing inflammation (at least in women with MetS, and compared to exercise). Results from this study do agree with findings from a non-randomized clinical trial of similar design, where 36 months of diet (caloric and fat restriction) or diet plus exercise intervention caused significant weight reduction (change in BMI: -7.2+/-1.1. -6.6+/-1.5, and +0.4+/-1.3 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, respectively) improvement in lipid and non-lipid abnormalities of MetS, and improvement in the inflammatory biomarker UA, compared to control (80). However, such indices were not different between intervention groups, reiterating that diet appears to be the most salient lifestyle component.

# 4. DIET-RELATED ANTI-INFLAMMATORY PROPERTIES

Food has both nutritive and functional value and, as evidenced by the Esposito (65) and Camhi (79) trials, changes in dietary composition may contribute additive benefits beyond weight loss for the management of inflammation in MetS. In both of these studies, authors speculate that increased consumption of vitamins, antioxidants and fibers may have influenced the cytokine milieu. Biologically, there is a basis for this proposition as fruits and vegetables (found in high quantities in both Mediterranean and low-fat diets) have tremendous antioxidant potential (81, 82), and several studies have found inverse associations between high fruit and vegetable consumption and inflammation and Further, folate, polyphenols, oxidative stress (83-86). antioxidants (such as vitamin C and beta-carotene) and fiber. found in a variety of fruits and vegetables are also related to lower levels of inflammation and oxidative stress in adults (87-92). In addition to anti-oxidant properties, the lowered insulin response associated with LF diets may also decrease the levels circulating of inflammatory biomarkers by influencing adipocyte function (93). Lastly, dietary interventions may improve inflammation in individuals with MetS through improvements in insulin resistance. Diets high in fructose and saturated fats have been shown to predispose rats to hyperinsulinemia (94), whereas diets containing nuts (95), red wine (96), and omega-3 fatty acids (97) (all components of a Mediterranean diet) appear to be protective. Unfortunately, the role of insulin resistance on the inflammatory response was underexplored in the presented trials; although, this may be an interesting question for future trials to pursue. In sum, foods found within a Mediterranean and LF diet contain anti-inflammatory properties which may explain their effectiveness in reducing inflammation in MetS.

#### 5. PERSPECTIVE

There are very few RCTs conducted to date examining the role of lifestyle interventions on

inflammatory markers in people with MetS. However, available evidence suggests that lifestyle interventions are effective at improving inflammatory and metabolic profiles these individuals. Moreover, of the therapeutic lifestyle factors, dietary composition appears to play the most important role. Interestingly, in nearly all RCTs, improvement in inflammatory biomarkers occurred independent of a change in weight, although it is questionable whether some studies were adequately powered to examine this outcome.

More long-term, adequately powered studies should be conducted to substantiate the observations presented in this review. Although all trials accounted for changes in body weight, changes in insulin resistance were not considered as a confounding factor. Given its potential role as a mediator in the relationship between inflammation and MetS, future studies should take this variable into account. Based on the findings of this review, future studies may also consider examining the effect of specific dietary components (i.e. total fat, saturated fat, cholesterol, fiber, or macronutrient intake) on the inflammatory profile in subjects with MetS.

#### 6. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health (AG027529 and HL093713).

#### 7. REFERENCES

- 1. G.M. Reaven: Banting lecture 1988. Role of insulin resistance in human disease. *Diabetes* 37,1595-1607 (1988)
- 2. B. Balkau and M.A. Charles: Comment on the provisional report from the WHO consultation. European Group for the Study of Insulin Resistance (EGIR). *Diabet Med* 16,442-443 (1999)
- 3. K.G. Alberti and P.Z. Zimmet: Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part 1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. *Diabet Med* 15, 539-553 (1998)
- 4. Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) final report. *Circulation* 106, 3143-3421 (2002)
- 5. D. Einhorn, G.M. Reaven, R.H. Cobin, E. Ford, O.P. Ganda, Y. Handelsman, R. Hellman, P.S. Jellinger, D. Kendall, R.M. Krauss, N.D. Neufeld, S.M. Petak, H.W. Rodbard, J.A. Seibel, D.A. Smith, and P.W. Wilson: American College of Endocrinology position statement on the insulin resistance syndrome. *Endocr Pract* 9, 237-252 (2003)
- 6. K.G. Alberti and P. Zimmet, J. Shaw: The metabolic syndrome--a new worldwide definition. *Lancet* 366, 1059-1062 (2005)

- 7. C.A. Aguilar-Salinas, R. Rojas, F.J. Gomez-Perez, R. Mehta, A. Franco, G. Olaiz, and J.A. Rull: The metabolic syndrome: a concept hard to define. *Arch Med Res* 36, 223-231 (2005)
- 8. E.S. Ford, W.H. Giles and W.H. Dietz: Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome among US adults: findings from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *JAMA* 287, 356-359 (2002)
- 9. S.D. de Ferranti, K. Gauvreau, D.S. Ludwig, E.J. Neufeld, J.W. Newburger and N. Rifai: Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in American adolescents: findings from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *Circulation* 110, 2494-2497 (2004)
- 10. E.A. Gale: The myth of the metabolic syndrome. *Diabetologia* 48, 1679-1683 (2005)
- 11. A. Scuteri, S.S. Najjar, C.H. Morrell and E.G. Lakatta: The metabolic syndrome in older individuals: prevalence and prediction of cardiovascular events: the Cardiovascular Health Study. *Diabetes Care* 28, 882-887 (2005)
- 12. S. Malik, N.D. Wong, S.S. Franklin, T.V. Kamath, G.J. L'Italien, J.R. Pio and G.R. Williams: Impact of the metabolic syndrome on mortality from coronary heart disease, cardiovascular disease, and all causes in United States adults. *Circulation* 110, 1245-1250 (2004)
- 13. C.J. Girman, T. Rhodes, M. Mercuri, K. Pyorala, J. Kjekshus, T.R. Pedersen, P.A. Beere, A.M. Gotto and M. Clearfield: The metabolic syndrome and risk of major coronary events in the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S) and the Air Force/Texas Coronary Atherosclerosis Prevention Study (AFCAPS/TexCAPS). *Am J Cardiol* 93, 136-141 (2004)
- 14. G. Hu, Q. Qiao, J. Tuomilehto, B. Balkau, K. Borch-Johnsen and K. Pyorala: Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome and its relation to all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in nondiabetic European men and women. *Arch Intern Med* 164, 1066-1076 (2004)
- 15. E. Bonora, G. Targher, G. Formentini, F. Calcaterra, S. Lombardi, F. Marini, L. Zenari, F. Saggiani, M. Poli, S. Perbellini, A. Raffaelli, L. Gemma, L. Santi, R.C. Bonadonna and M. Muggeo: The Metabolic Syndrome is an independent predictor of cardiovascular disease in Type 2 diabetic subjects. Prospective data from the Verona Diabetes Complications Study. *Diabet Med* 21, 52-58 (2004)
- 16. H.M. Lakka, D.E. Laaksonen, T.A. Lakka, L.K. Niskanen, E. Kumpusalo, J. Tuomilehto and J.T. Salonen: The metabolic syndrome and total and cardiovascular disease mortality in middle-aged men. *JAMA* 288, 2709-2716 (2002)
- 17. M.P. Stern, K. Williams, C. Gonzalez-Villalpando, K.J. Hunt and S.M. Haffner: Does the metabolic syndrome improve identification of individuals at risk of type 2

- diabetes and/or cardiovascular disease? *Diabetes Care*27, 2676-2681 (2004)
- 18. C.S. Blaum, N.A. West and M.N. Haan: Is the metabolic syndrome, with or without diabetes, associated with progressive disability in older Mexican Americans? *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* 62, 766-773 (2007)
- 19. B.W. Penninx, B.J. Nicklas, A.B. Newman, T.B. Harris, B.H. Goodpaster, S. Satterfield, R.N. de, K. Yaffe, M. Pahor and S.B. Kritchevsky: Metabolic syndrome and physical decline in older persons: results from the Health, Aging And Body Composition Study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* 64; 96-102 (2009)
- 20. S.S. Sun, R. Liang, T.T. Huang, S.R. Daniels, S. Arslanian, K. Liu, G.D. Grave and R.M. Siervogel: Childhood obesity predicts adult metabolic syndrome: the Fels Longitudinal Study. *J Pediatr* 152, 191-200 (2008)
- 21. M.J. Vanhala, P.T. Vanhala, S.M. Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi, E.A. Kumpusalo and J.K. Takala: Relative weight gain and obesity as a child predict metabolic syndrome as an adult. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 23, 656-659 (1999)
- 22. J.A. Morrison, L.A. Friedman, P. Wang and C.J. Glueck: Metabolic syndrome in childhood predicts adult metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes mellitus 25 to 30 years later. *J Pediatr* 152, 201-206 (2008)
- 23. C.C. Case, P.H. Jones, K. Nelson, S.E. O'Brian and C.M. Ballantyne: Impact of weight loss on the metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes Obes Metab* 4, 407-414 (2002)
- 24. S.M. Grundy: Obesity, metabolic syndrome, and cardiovascular disease. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 89, 2595-2600 (2004)
- 25. B.H. Goodpaster, S. Krishnaswami, T.B. Harris, A. Katsiaras, S.B. Kritchevsky, E.M. Simonsick, M. Nevitt, P. Holvoet and A.B. Newman: Obesity, regional body fat distribution, and the metabolic syndrome in older men and women. *Arch Intern Med* 165, 777-783 (2005)
- 26. B.B. Kahn and J.S. Flier: Obesity and insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest* 106, 473-481 (2000)
- 27. F. Abbasi, B.W. Brown, Jr., C. Lamendola, T. McLaughlin and G.M. Reaven: Relationship between obesity, insulin resistance, and coronary heart disease risk. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 40, 937-943 (2002)
- 28. J.M. Mostaza, G.L. Vega, P. Snell and S.M. Grundy: Abnormal metabolism of free fatty acids in hypertriglyceridaemic men: apparent insulin resistance of adipose tissue. *J Intern Med* 243, 265-274 (1998)
- 29. T. Pollare, H. Lithell and C. Berne: Insulin resistance is a characteristic feature of primary hypertension independent of obesity. *Metabolism* 39, 167-174 (1990)

- 30. A.R. Saltiel and C.R. Kahn: Insulin signalling and the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. *Nature* 414, 799-806 (2001)
- 31. E. Ferrannini, S.M. Haffner, B.D. Mitchell and M.P. Stern: Hyperinsulinaemia: the key feature of a cardiovascular and metabolic syndrome. *Diabetologia* 34, 416-422 (1991)
- 32. V. Mohamed-Ali, J.H. Pinkney and S.W. Coppack: Adipose tissue as an endocrine and paracrine organ. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 22, 1145-1158 (1998)
- 33. S.K. Fried, D.A. Bunkin and A.S. Greenberg: Omental and subcutaneous adipose tissues of obese subjects release interleukin-6: depot difference and regulation by glucocorticoid. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 83, 847-850 (1998)
- 34. M.M. Moore, W. Chua, K.A. Charles and S.J. Clarke: Inflammation and cancer: causes and consequences. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 87, 504-508 (2010)
- 35. R. Ross: Atherosclerosis--an inflammatory disease. *N Engl J Med* 340, 115-126 (1999)
- 36. W.Q. Gan, S.F. Man, A. Senthilselvan and D.D. Sin: Association between chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and systemic inflammation: a systematic review and a meta-analysis. *Thorax* 59, 574-580 (2004)
- 37. T. You and B.J. Nicklas: Chronic inflammation: role of adipose tissue and modulation by weight loss. *Curr Diabetes Rev* 2, 29-37 (2006)
- 38. L.K. Forsythe, J.M. Wallace and M.B. Livingstone: Obesity and inflammation: the effects of weight loss. *Nutr Res Rev* 21, 117-133 (2008)
- 39. E K. Esposito, G. Giugliano, N. Scuderi and D. Giugliano: Role of adipokines in the obesity-inflammation relationship: the effect of fat removal. *Plast Reconstr Surg* 118, 1048-1057 (2006)
- 40. J. Tong, E.J. Boyko, K.M. Utzschneider, M.J. McNeely, T. Hayashi, D.B. Carr, T.M. Wallace, S. Zraika, F. Gerchman, D.L. Leonetti, W.Y. Fujimoto and S.E. Kahn: Intra-abdominal fat accumulation predicts the development of the metabolic syndrome in non-diabetic Japanese-Americans. *Diabetologia* 50, 1156-1160 (2007)
- 41. G.S. Hotamisligil, N.S. Shargill and B.M. Spiegelman: Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. *Science* 259, 87-91 (1993)
- 42. G.S. Hotamisligil, P. Arner, J.F. Caro, R.L. Atkinson and B.M. Spiegelman: Increased adipose tissue expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in human obesity and insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest* 95, 2409-2415 (1995)
- 43. P. Dandona, R. Weinstock, K. Thusu, E. Abdel-Rahman, A. Aljada and T. Wadden: Tumor necrosis factor-

- alpha in sera of obese patients: fall with weight loss. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 83, 2907-2910 (1998)
- 44. J.S. Yudkin, C.D. Stehouwer, J.J. Emeis and S.W. Coppack: C-reactive protein in healthy subjects: associations with obesity, insulin resistance, and endothelial dysfunction: a potential role for cytokines originating from adipose tissue? *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 19, 972-978 (1999)
- 45. V. Mohamed-Ali, S. Goodrick, A. Rawesh, D.R. Katz, J.M. Miles, J.S. Yudkin, S. Klein and S.W. Coppack: Subcutaneous adipose tissue releases interleukin-6, but not tumor necrosis factor-alpha, *in vivo. J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 82, 4196-4200 (1997)
- 46. P. Plomgaard, K. Bouzakri, R. Krogh-Madsen, B. Mittendorfer, J.R. Zierath and B.K. Pedersen: Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces skeletal muscle insulin resistance in healthy human subjects via inhibition of Akt substrate 160 phosphorylation. *Diabetes* 54, 2939-2945 (2005)
- 47. G. Sabio, M. Das, A. Mora, Z. Zhang, J.Y. Jun, H.J. Ko, T. Barrett, J.K. Kim and R.J. Davis: A stress signaling pathway in adipose tissue regulates hepatic insulin resistance. *Science* 322, 1539-1543 (2008)
- 48. A. Festa, R. D'Agostino, Jr., G. Howard, L. Mykkanen, R.P. Tracy and S.M. Haffner: Chronic subclinical inflammation as part of the insulin resistance syndrome: the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study (IRAS). *Circulation* 102, 42-47 (2000)
- 49. M.K. Rutter, J.B. Meigs, L.M. Sullivan, R.B. D'Agostino, Sr. and P.W. Wilson: C-reactive protein, the metabolic syndrome, and prediction of cardiovascular events in the Framingham Offspring Study. *Circulation* 110, 380-385 (2004)
- 50. E.S. Ford, W.H. Giles, G.L. Myers and D.M. Mannino: Population distribution of high-sensitivity C-reactive protein among US men: findings from National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999-2000. *Clin Chem* 49, 686-690. (2003)
- 51. T.B. Ferraz, R.S. Motta, C.L. Ferraz, D.M. Capibaribe, A.C. Forti and A.R. Chacra: C-reactive protein and features of metabolic syndrome in Brazilian women with previous gestational diabetes. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 78, 23-29 (2007)
- 52. P.M. Ridker, J.E. Buring, N.R. Cook and N. Rifai: Creactive protein, the metabolic syndrome, and risk of incident cardiovascular events: an 8-year follow-up of 14 719 initially healthy American women. *Circulation* 107, 391-397 (2003)
- 53. A.D. Pradhan, N.R. Cook, J.E. Buring, J.E. Manson and P.M. Ridker: C-reactive protein is independently associated with fasting insulin in nondiabetic women. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 23, 650-655 (2003)

- 54. T. You, B.J. Nicklas, J. Ding, B.W. Penninx, B.H. Goodpaster, D.C. Bauer, F.A. Tylavsky, T.B. Harris and S.B. Kritchevsky: The metabolic syndrome is associated with circulating adipokines in older adults across a wide range of adiposity. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* 63, 414-419 (2008)
- 55. A. Zirlik, S.M. Abdullah, N. Gerdes, L. MacFarlane, U. Schonbeck, A. Khera, D.K. McGuire, G.L. Vega, S. Grundy, P. Libby and J.A. de Lemos: Interleukin-18, the metabolic syndrome, and subclinical atherosclerosis: results from the Dallas Heart Study. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 27, 2043-2049 (2007)
- 56. J. Hung, B.M. McQuillan, P.L. Thompson and J.P. Beilby: Circulating adiponectin levels associate with inflammatory markers, insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome independent of obesity. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 32, 772-779 (2008)
- 57. J. Hung, B.M. McQuillan, C.M. Chapman, P.L. Thompson and J.P. Beilby: Elevated interleukin-18 levels are associated with the metabolic syndrome independent of obesity and insulin resistance. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 25, 1268-1273 (2005)
- 58. T.S. Han, N. Sattar, K. Williams, C. Gonzalez-Villalpando, M.E. Lean and S.M. Haffner: Prospective study of C-reactive protein in relation to the development of diabetes and metabolic syndrome in the Mexico City Diabetes Study. *Diabetes Care* 25, 2016-2021 (2002)
- 59. S. Bo, R. Rosato, G. Ciccone, R. Gambino, M. Durazzo, L. Gentile, M. Cassader, P. Cavallo-Perin and G. Pagano: What predicts the occurrence of the metabolic syndrome in a population-based cohort of adult healthy subjects? *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* 25, 76-82 (2009)
- 60. A. Onat, H. Ozhan, E. Erbilen, S. Albayrak, Z. Kucukdurmaz, G. Can, I. Keles and G. Hergenc: Independent prediction of metabolic syndrome by plasma fibrinogen in men, and predictors of elevated levels. *Int J Cardiol* 135, 211-217 (2009)
- 61. P.M. Ridker, C.P. Cannon, D. Morrow, N. Rifai, L.M. Rose, C.H. McCabe, M.A. Pfeffer and E. Braunwald: Creactive protein levels and outcomes after statin therapy. *N Engl J Med* 352, 20-28 (2005)
- 62. N. Sattar, A. Gaw, O. Scherbakova, I. Ford, D.S. O'Reilly, S.M. Haffner, C. Isles, P.W. Macfarlane, C.J. Packard, S.M. Cobbe and J. Shepherd: Metabolic syndrome with and without C-reactive protein as a predictor of coronary heart disease and diabetes in the West of Scotland Coronary Prevention Study. *Circulation* 108, 414-419 (2003)
- 63. S.M. Grundy, J.I. Cleeman, S.R. Daniels, K.A. Donato, R.H. Eckel, B.A. Franklin, D.J. Gordon, R.M. Krauss, P.J. Savage, S.C. Smith, Jr., J.A. Spertus and F. Costa: Diagnosis and management of the metabolic syndrome: an American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and

- Blood Institute Scientific Statement. *Circulation* 112, 2735-2752 (2005)
- 64. T.J. Orchard, M. Temprosa, R. Goldberg, S. Haffner, R. Ratner, S. Marcovina and S. Fowler: The effect of metformin and intensive lifestyle intervention on the metabolic syndrome: the Diabetes Prevention Program randomized trial. *Ann Intern Med* 142, 611-619 (2005)
- 65. K. Esposito, R. Marfella, M. Ciotola, P.C. Di, F. Giugliano, G. Giugliano, M. D'Armiento, F. D'Andrea and D. Giugliano: Effect of a mediterranean-style diet on endothelial dysfunction and markers of vascular inflammation in the metabolic syndrome: a randomized trial. *JAMA* 292, 1440-1446 (2004)
- 66. K.T. Kukkonen-Harjula, P.T. Borg, A.M. Nenonen and M.G. Fogelholm: Effects of a weight maintenance program with or without exercise on the metabolic syndrome: a randomized trial in obese men. *Prev Med* 41, 784-790 (2005)
- 67. L. Azadbakht, P. Mirmiran, A. Esmaillzadeh, T. Azizi and F. Azizi: Beneficial effects of a Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension eating plan on features of the metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes Care* 28, 2823-2831 (2005)
- 68. K.M. Beavers, T.E. Brinkley and B.J. Nicklas: Effect of exercise training on chronic inflammation. *Clinica Chimica Acta*. 411, 785-793. (2010)
- 69. T. Guardia, A.E. Rotelli, A.O. Juarez and L.E. Pelzer: Anti-inflammatory properties of plant flavonoids. Effects of rutin, quercetin and hesperidin on adjuvant arthritis in rat. *Farmaco* 56, 683-687 (2001)
- 70. A.P. Simopoulos: Omega-3 fatty acids in inflammation and autoimmune diseases. *J Am Coll Nutr* 21, 495-505 (2002)
- 71. M. Verdrengh, I.M. Jonsson, R. Holmdahl and A. Tarkowski: Genistein as an anti-inflammatory agent. *Inflamm Res* 52, 341-346 (2003)
- 72. S.G. Wannamethee, G.D. Lowe, A. Rumley, K.R. Bruckdorfer and P.H. Whincup: Associations between cigarette smoking, pipe/cigar smoking, and smoking cessation, and haemostatic and inflammatory markers for cardiovascular disease. *Eur Heart J* 26, 1765-1773 (2005)
- 73. E.J. Brunner, H. Hemingway, B.R. Walker, M. Page, P. Clarke, M. Juneja, M.J. Shipley, M. Kumari, R. Andrew, J.R. Seckl, A. Papadopoulos, S. Checkley, A. Rumley, G.D. Lowe, S.A. Stansfeld and M.G. Marmot: Adrenocortical, autonomic, and inflammatory causes of the metabolic syndrome: nested case-control study. *Circulation* 106, 2659-2665 (2002)
- 74. Y.W. Park, S. Zhu, L. Palaniappan, S. Heshka, M.R. Carnethon and S.B. Heymsfield: The metabolic syndrome: prevalence and associated risk factor findings in the US population from the Third National Health and Nutrition

- Examination Survey, 1988-1994. Arch Intern Med 163, 427-436 (2003)
- 75. S. Bo, G. Ciccone, C. Baldi, L. Benini, F. Dusio, G. Forastiere, C. Lucia, C. Nuti, M. Durazzo, M. Cassader, L. Gentile and G. Pagano: Effectiveness of a lifestyle intervention on metabolic syndrome. A randomized controlled trial. *J Gen Intern Med* 22, 1695-1703 (2007)
- 76. W. Kemmler, S.S. Von, K. Engelke and W.A. Kalender: Exercise decreases the risk of metabolic syndrome in elderly females. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 41, 297-305 (2009)
- 77. M. Troseid, K.T. Lappegard, T.E. Mollnes, H. Arnesen and I. Seljeflot: Changes in serum levels of E-selectin correlate to improved glycaemic control and reduced obesity in subjects with the metabolic syndrome. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* 65, 283-290 (2005)
- 78. M. Troseid, K.T. Lappegard, T. Claudi, J.K. Damas, L. Morkrid, R. Brendberg and T.E. Mollnes: Exercise reduces plasma levels of the chemokines MCP-1 and IL-8 in subjects with the metabolic syndrome. *Eur Heart J* 25, 349-355 (2004)
- 79. S.M. Camhi, M.L. Stefanick, P.T. Katzmarzyk and D.R. Young: Metabolic syndrome and changes in body fat from a low-fat diet and/or exercise randomized controlled trial. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 18, 548-554 (2010)
- 80. M. Christ, C. Iannello, P.G. Iannello and W. Grimm: Effects of a weight reduction program with and without aerobic exercise in the metabolic syndrome. *Int J Cardiol* 97, 115-122 (2004)
- 81. H. Wang, G. Coa and R.L. Prior: Total Antioxidant Capacity of Fruits. *J Agric Food Chem* 44, 701-705 (1996)
- 82. G. Cao, E. Sofic and R.L. Prior: Antioxidant capacity of tea and common vegetables. *J Agric Food Chem* 44, 3426-3431 (1996)
- 83. E.R. Miller, III, T.P. Erlinger, F.M. Sacks, L.P. Svetkey, J. Charleston, P.H. Lin and L.J. Appel: A dietary pattern that lowers oxidative stress increases antibodies to oxidized LDL: results from a randomized controlled feeding study. *Atherosclerosis* 183, 175-182 (2005)
- 84. T.P. Erlinger, E.R. Miller, III, J. Charleston and L.J. Appel: Inflammation modifies the effects of a reduced-fat low-cholesterol diet on lipids: results from the DASH-sodium trial. *Circulation* 108, 150-154 (2003)
- 85. M. Holt, L.M. Steffen, A. Moran, S. Basu, J. Steinberger, J.A. Ross, C.P. Hong and A.R. Sinaiko: Fruit and vegetable consumption and its relation to markers of inflammation and oxidative stress in adolescents. *J Am Diet Assoc* 109, 414-421 (2009)
- 86. H.F. Lopes, K.L. Martin, K. Nashar, J.D. Morrow, T.L. Goodfriend and B.M. Egan: DASH diet lowers blood

- pressure and lipid-induced oxidative stress in obesity. *Hypertension* 41, 422-430 (2003)
- 87. I.M. Graham and P. O'Callaghan: The role of folic acid in the prevention of cardiovascular disease. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 11, 577-587 (2000)
- 88. F. Bohm, M. Settergren and J. Pernow: Vitamin C blocks vascular dysfunction and release of interleukin-6 induced by endothelin-1 in humans *in vivo*. *Atherosclerosis* 190, 408-415 (2007)
- 89. A. Nanri, M.A. Moore and S. Kono: Impact of Creactive protein on disease risk and its relation to dietary factors. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev* 8, 167-177 (2007)
- 90. I.C. Arts and P.C. Hollman: Polyphenols and disease risk in epidemiologic studies. *Am J Clin Nutr* 81, 317S-325S (2005)
- 91. S.G. Wannamethee, G.D. Lowe, A. Rumley, K.R. Bruckdorfer and P.H. Whincup: Associations of vitamin C status, fruit and vegetable intakes, and markers of inflammation and hemostasis. *Am J Clin Nutr* 83, 567-574 (2006)
- 92. K. Esposito, F. Nappo, F. Giugliano, P.C. Di, M. Ciotola, M. Barbieri, G. Paolisso and D. Giugliano: Meal modulation of circulating interleukin 18 and adiponectin concentrations in healthy subjects and in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Am J Clin Nutr* 78, 1135-1140 (2003)
- 93. M.F. McCarty: Low-insulin-response diets may decrease plasma C-reactive protein by influencing adipocyte function. *Med Hypotheses* 64,385-387 (2005)
- 94. C.Y. Chen, J. Crott, Z. Liu and D.E. Smith: Fructose and saturated fats predispose hyperinsulinemia in lean male rat offspring. *Eur J Nutr* Epub ahead of print (2010)
- 95. P. Casas-Agustench, M. Bullo and J. Salas-Salvado: J. Nuts, inflammation and insulin resistance. *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr* 19, 124-130 (2010)
- 96. R. Napoli, D. Cozzolino, V. Guardasole, V. Angelini, E. Zarra, M. Matarazzo, A. Cittadini, L. Sacca and R. Torella: Red wine consumption improves insulin resistance but not endothelial function in type 2 diabetic patients. *Metabolism* 54, 306-313 (2005)
- 97. Y.J. Huang, V.S. Fang, C.C. Juan, Y.C. Chou, C.F. Kwok and L.T. Ho: Amelioration of insulin resistance and hypertension in a fructose-fed rat model with fish oil supplementation. *Metabolism* 46,1252-1258 (1997)
- **Abbreviations:** AACE = America association of clinical endocrinologists, BMI = body mass index, CAM = cellular adhesion molecule, CI = confidence interval, CRP = creactive protein, CVD = cardiovascular disease, DM = diabetes mellitus, EGIR = European group for the study of insulin resistance, HDL-C = high density lipoprotein cholesterol, HMG-CoA= 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-

- coenzyme A, HR = hazard ratio, IDF = international diabetes federation, IL = interleukin, kg = kilogram, L = liter, LF = low-fat, m = meter, MCP-1 = monocyte chemotactic protein-1, MetS = metabolic syndrome, mg = milligram, n = sample size, NCEP = national cholesterol education program, OR = odds ratio, RCT = randomized controlled trial, TNF-alpha = tumor necrosis factor-alpha , UA = uric acid, WHO = world health organization
- **Key Words**: Metabolic Syndrome, Inflammation, Exercise, Diet, Lifestyle Intervention, Review
- Send correspondence to: Kristen M. Beavers, Department of Internal Medicine, Section on Gerontology and Geriatric Medicine, Wake Forest University School of Medicine, Medical Center Boulevard, Winston-Salem, NC, 27157, Tel: 336-713-8529, Fax: 336-713-8588, E-mail: kbeavers@wfubmc.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/volS3.htm